
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 

Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor    City Attorney 
Julie T. Martin, Mayor Pro Tem  Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner 
Felicia M. Harris, Commissioner            City Manager 
Kendra L. Rolle, Commissioner  Regina M. McDuffie 

www.brunswickga.org 
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 3, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption of May 3, 2023 Regular Meeting Agenda.
PRESENTATION
2. Presentation to Georgia Cities Week Contestant Winners. (R. McDuffie)
PUBLIC COMMENT
PUBLIC HEARING – NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE(S) (A. Brown)
3. 

New Alcohol License(s) 
Name of Business Business Owner/Manager Business Address Permit Type 
Matted Ox Owner: Jason Kuykendall 1510 Bay St., 

Brunswick, GA 
On premise consumption of 
beer and wine 

Senbai Inc, d/b/a 
Snappy Foods 

Owner: Dharaben Patel 2905 Glynn Ave., 
Brunswick, GA 

Retail sales of beer and wine 

UPDATE(S) 
4. Annual Update Regarding Downtown Development Authority Activities.  (M. Hill) (Encl. 1) 
DISCUSSION
5. Preliminary Presentation for the 2023/2024 Fiscal Year Budget.  (R. McDuffie)  (Encl. 2)
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL
6. Consider Approval of April 19, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary 
changes.)  (N. Atkinson)  (Encl. 3)
7. Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of March 31, 2023.  (K. Mills) (Encl. 4)
8. Consider Approval of Purchase of Altec Dump Truck with 1998 Georgia Local Government 
Equipment Lease Pool.  (K. Mills)  (Encl. 5)

http://www.brunswickga.org/
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


Page 2 
April 19, 2023 
Brunswick City Commission Agenda 

9. Consider Approval of Renewal of General Liability and Property Insurance With Georgia Interlocal 
Risk Management Agency (GIRMA).  (L. Velie) (Encl. 6)

10. Consider Approval of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) FY 2023 Annual 
Action Plan.  (D. Bravo) (Encl. 7)

EXECUTIVE SESSION 













BUDGET SCHEDULE FY2024  
 
 
EVENT DESCRIPTION  COMPLETION DATE 
 
 
BUDGET MEETING (review of budget process & 
 distribution of budget information  

 with Department Heads 9:00 A.M. THURSDAY, MARCH 02, 2023 
 
 
PHASE I - BUDGET SCHEDULE 
 
Department Budget Preparation Meetings  Week of MARCH 13th, 2023  

Submission of Department/Agency Budget Requests  THURSDAY, MARCH 30th, 2023 

 Including all forms 

Departmental Budget Hearings & 9 AM - 12 PM WEEK OF APRIL 3rd, 2023    
Agencies Budget Hearings 2 PM - 5 PM 
    
    
  
  
PHASE II - BUDGET SCHEDULE  

Budget Review  WEEK OF APRIL 10TH      

Budget Revisions Prepared  WEEK OF APRIL 10TH     

Budget Revisions Back from Depts  THURSDAY, APRIL 20th  
 
 
 
PHASE III - FINAL BUDGET PREPARATION  

 
 

Budget presentation to Commissioners WEDNESDAY, MAY 3rd, 2023 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 



    BUDGET SCHEDULE FY 2024    
 
 
 
EVENT DESCRIPTION  COMPLETION DATE 
 
 
PROPOSED BUDGET APPROVAL WEDNESDAY, MAY 17th 

 
Public Notice on Proposed Budget*  WEDNESDAY MAY 24TH, 2023  
(Availability and Public Hearing)  
 
Commissioner’s Budget Review, if needed**  WEDNESDAY MAY 31st 
     
    
 
Public Hearing on Budget***   WED.,  JUNE 7TH, 2023 
   Prior to REGULAR  MEETING 
 
 
BUDGET APPROVAL BY COMMISSIONERS  WEDNESDAY, JUNE 21ST, 2023  
 Budget Resolution Required with all funds  REGULAR MEETING   
 
  
Approved Budget sent to departments    THURSDAY, JUNE 29TH    
  
 
NOTE: Department hearings will be held in the 2nd Floor conference room  
 
Commission meetings will be held at Old City Hall.  Additional Commission Budget reviews TBD.    
 
Public Hearing will be held at Old City Hall.     
 
 
 
* Advertisement must be seven (7) full days prior to the Public Hearing 
** Individual Budget Reviews will be conducted, if requested, prior to the public hearing 
*** Public Hearing must be seven (7) full days prior to final budget approval 
 



    FY 2024 Budget Preview 
Proposed General Fund Budget -  

$20,175,744   7.48% 

Proposed GF Budget w/ ARPA - $24,299,368 

   $4,123,624 Revenue Recovery 

Revenues 

 Property Taxes -  $5.4 million  26.6% 

 Sales Taxes -        $9.0 million  44.6% 

 Other Taxes -      $3.8 million   18.9% 

Total Taxes -     $18.2 million   90.1% 

Appropriated Fund Balance - $550,000 

Opioid Funds - $29,000  

Decreases in Municipal Court and Building Permit revenues 

 

Expenses  

Authorized Personnel – 231 

Budgeted Personnel - 206 

 Additional personnel – 12 Full Time Equivalent  

(11) Recreation personnel including Ground Maintenance  

(1) Human Resources position  

(1) Information Technology 

 3% Salary increased – effective December 1st 

 



Key Initiatives  

Housing Development / Community Revitalization 

Community Engagement & Outreach 

City Recreation 

Public Transportation 

 

Additional Highlights  

$50,000 in funds for Community Engagement and Community Outreach  

$45,000 for City Elections  

$50,000 in additional funding for Boarding houses, legal processing 

$50,000 for funding for the Land Bank  

$100,000 – continued support for BPD incentives 

$105,000 – Equipment for Fire Services  

$1,120,232 – Recreation Administration and Operation including grounds 
maintenance  

Special Revenue Recovery Projects –  

 Housing Programs & Development -  $2.5 million  

 Business Support / Relief -    $803,624 

HCP Facility Improvements -   $600,000 

Transit Services -     $220,000 

 

  



OFFICIAL MINUTES 
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 19, 2023 
AT 6:00 P.M. 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

 
PRESENT:  Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson, Mayor Pro-Tem Julie Martin, Commissioner 

John Cason III, Commissioner Felicia Harris, and Commissioner Kendra Rolle ~ (attended 
virtually). 

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Johnson ~ meeting began at 6:00 p.m.                                  
INVOCATION:  Commissioner Felicia Harris 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited in unison by all in attendance. 
 
ADDENDUM(S) TO AGENDA:  

** 
1. Mayor Johnson made a motion to remove item (2) under Discussion, Testimony Regarding 

Nuisance Properties, and item (4) under Public Hearings – Land Use, Consider Approval of 90% 
Site Plan – 3302 Glynn Avenue; and add under City Attorney’s Items, item (12) Consider for 
approval agreement with CRSA to continue to provide probationary services to the City of Brunswick 
Municipal Court, and item (13) Consider for approval a Quit Claim Deed releasing any interest arising 
from the 1938 Tax Deed conveyed in favor of the City of Brunswick relating to a portion of 914 
Amherst Street; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin. Motion passed unanimously. 

** 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption of April 19, 2023, Regular Meeting Agenda. 
    Commissioner Harris made a motion to adopt the above-referenced agenda with the aforementioned      
    addendums; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin.  Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
2.         The following individuals addressed the commission: 

• Don Myers – Addressed Homelessness and Nuisance Properties. Emphasized issues with affordable 
housing. 

• Starling Sutton – Addressed Homelessness and Nuisance Properties. Emphasized the positive work 
the Commission is doing with transitional housing. 

• Michael Luff – Addressed Homelessness and Nuisance Properties. Emphasized how organizations 
like the well helped elevate him from homelessness. 

• Roxanne George – Addressed Homelessness and Nuisance Properties. Emphasized solutions to 
address issues that lead to homelessness.  

DISCUSSION  
2. Testimony Regarding Nuisance Properties. 
    Above referenced item was removed from agenda. 
PUBLIC HEARING(S) – ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
3. Amendment to Chapter 13 of the Code of the City of Brunswick; Particularly to Add Article XIX to be  
    Titled Homelessness.  (B. Corry)  

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


2 
 

City Attorney Corry presented the amendment to Chapter 13 of the City Code. Mayor Johnson opened the floor 
for public comment. 
Public Comment Period: 

• Samantha Mixon, 406 Palmetto Street - Addressed concerns regarding mental illness, housing, and 
needs for the homeless, such as transportation and jobs. 

• Jenna Kennedy, 135 Regal Road - Discussed need for more resources like The Well as resources are 
limited to those in need. 

• Ed Gornto, 406 Midway Circle - Discussed the good of The Well is doing. 
• Elizabeth Milburn, 523 Union St, penalize – Discussed businesses draining resources from the 

Brunswick Police and issues with correctly categorizing service facilities. 
• Brenda Richardson, 2014 Tillman Avenue – Discussed issues with squatters and increase of young 

homeless folk. Ms. Richardson also raised concerns regarding 2016 Tillman Avenue, owned by Lawton 
Moore, as a nuisance property. 

• Tina Hearing, 2650 Canary Drive – Stated there is a need for homeless shelters in Brunswick and Glynn 
County. 

• Kim Sapp-Gornto, 406 Midway Circle – Stated that the homeless will always be here when the doors to 
service organizations close. Emphasized the cause and effect when resources are removed. 

• Wright Culpepper, 1101 Gloucester Street – Representative of the Well, Mr. Culpepper stated he and his 
team looked over the homeless ordinance and are okay with it. 

• Nancy Wilks, 606 Gloucester Street, Supports the ordinance and wants more consideration for 
downtown businesses who deal with homelessness daily. 

• Pat O’shea, 108 Silverlane Drive - Spoke about assault on wife at Maggie Mae’s and issues with 
violence. Mr. O’Shea wants better guidelines and more accountability for offenders, such as the 
homeless woman who assaulted his wife. 

• Andrew Douglas, 108 Silverlane Drive - Spoke about assault on his mother at Maggie Mae’s and 
emphasized better solutions to address violence, homelessness, and mental health issues. 

•  Debbie Brown, 428 Union Street – Stated that the first responder component is an important part of the 
ordinance and her appreciation for the ordinance. 

 
Mayor Johnson clarified rumors stating the City Commission approved the placement of The Well, which they 
did not, and the ordinance will address. 
 
City Attorney Corry stated that the ordinance followed proper protocols regarding advertisement by the City 
Clerk and public input, allowing the Commission to move forward with passing the ordinance. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to adopt the homeless ordinance; seconded by Commissioner Cason. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC HEARING(S) – LAND USE 
4.  Consider Approval of 90% Site Plan ∼3302 Glyn Avenue.  (J. Hunter) 
     Above-referenced item was removed from the agenda until later date. 
PUBLIC HEARING – NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE(S) (A. Brown) 
5. 

New Alcohol License(s) 
Name of Business Business Owner/Manager Business Address Permit Type 
J E and N Inc. DBA 
Five Points 

Owner: Rajendraprasad Patel 
Manager: Sheritta Jackson 

2806 Altama Avenue Retail sales of beer and wine 

 



3 
 

Mayor Johnson asked Deputy Marshal Brown if the owner attended the Midtown Neighborhood 
Planning Assembly meeting. Deputy Marshal Brown stated the owner did not attend. 
Mayor Johnson expressed the need of input from community stakeholders, regarding alcohol sales in 
their neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to defer consideration of Five Points alcohol license until the 
owner meets with Midtown Neighborhood Planning Assembly, Mayor Pro Tem Martin seconded. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC HEARING - APPEAL – NEW ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE (A. Brown) 
6.   

Name of Business Business Owner/Manager Business Address Permit Type 
 

H & H Mini Mart LLC 
DBA In & Out 

Owner:  Harikrushina Patel 
Manager: Mehulbhai Dalal  

1603 L Street 
 

Retail sale of beer & Wine. 

 
Alan Tucker, attorney for H & H Mini Mart LLC DBA In & Out presented evidence to the Commission 
regarding his disagreement with the March 1, 2023 denial. 
Business Owner Patel stated he spent $150,000 to renovate the property, which needed numerous repairs 
and believed he would get a license, as the previous owner was granted one. 
City Attorney Brian Corry clarified that liquor licenses cannot be carried over with transfers of ownership. 
Mayor Johnson asked Deputy Marshal Brown if there were previous issues with the property. 
Deputy Brown discussed previous issues, including a shooting with prior ownership. 
Mayor Johnson opened the floor for anyone wanting to speak in favor or opposition of the new license for 
H & H Mini Mart LLC DBA In & Out. 
The following individual(s) addressed the commission: 

• Anita Collins, 1602 Tillman Avenue                                                                     Oppose 
• Seemona Holmes 1819 Lincoln Street                                                                   Oppose 
• William Kitts, 2017 Niles Avenue                                                                         Oppose 
• William Tresvant, 1915 Wilson Avenue                                                                Oppose 
• Mike Lehman, 1626 Tillman Avenue                                                                    Oppose 
• Brenda Richardson, 2014 Tillman Avenue                                                            Oppose 
• Brandon Evans, Homeless Resident                                         Briefly discussed support of The Well 
• Rhonda Waller, 1701 Wilson Avenue                                                                   Oppose 

Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to uphold the decision to deny license; seconded by Commissioner 
Harris seconded, motion passed unanimously.  
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
7.  Consider Approval of April 5, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary 
      changes.)  (N. Atkinson)  
     MPT Martin made motion to approve the April 5, 2023 meeting minutes; seconded by Commissioner 
     Harris. Motion passed unanimously. 
8.  Consider Approval of Funding to Support Improvements to Old City Hall.  (R. McDuffie) 

Commissioner Cason made motion to approve funding to support improvements to Old City Hall, seconded 
by Commissioner Harris. Motion passed unanimously. 

9.  Consider Approval of Funding for Two (2) Police Vehicles. (R. McDuffie) 
Commissioner Cason made motion to approve funding for two police vehicles; seconded by  
Commissioner Harris. Motion passed unanimously. 



4 
 

Commissioner Cason asked Chief Jones if the police department was looking into vehicle alternatives, 
such as electric vehicles. 
Chief Jones responded that Brunswick Police Department currently has two electric vehicles, but they 
are expensive compared to gas vehicles. 

CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
10.  Consider Adoption of Proposed Homeless Ordinance.  (Second Reading)  
       The above-referenced ordinance was adopted under item (3) of the agenda.   
11.  Consider Adoption of Proposed Alcohol Ordinance.  (Second Reading) 

City Attorney Corry presented the proposed Alcohol Ordinance. Mayor Pro Tem Martin asked for 
clarity regarding the non-refundable fee. 
City Attorney Corry responded that his version of the draft ordinance contained previously discussed 
revisions including the amount of the non-refundable fee. Corry further stated in the future he will 
ensure the version the Commission receives reflects his track-revisions. 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made motion to adopt the alcohol ordinance subject to changes that were 
discussed and agreed upon by the Commission; seconded by Commissioner Harris. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

12. Consider for Approval Agreement with Central Savannah River Area to Continue to Provide 
       Probation Services to the City of Brunswick Municipal Court. (B.Corry). 
      City Attorney Corry gave background information on probation services offered by Central Savannah 
      River Area Probation Services Inc.  
      Mayor Johnson acknowledged a representative from Central Savannah River Area, and asked 
      the Commission if they have any questions, which there were none.  
      Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the contract with CSRA; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem  
      Martin. Motion passed unanimously. 
13. Consider for Approval a Quit Claim Deed Releasing Any Interest Arising From the 1938 Tax  

Deed    Conveyed in Favor of the City of Brunswick Relating to a Portion of 914 Amherst Street. (B. Corry).  
Mayor Johnson and the Commission thanked Tax Specialist Taylor Ritz for her diligent work in finding old 
city ledgers regarding delinquent taxes from the 1930s and 1940s.  
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to approve the Quit Claim Deed; seconded by Commissioner Cason. 
Motion passed unanimously. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION (8:11 p.m.) 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss potential litigation; 
seconded by Commissioner Harris. Motion passed unanimously.  
RECOVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Following executive session Mayor Johnson open floor for a motion. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to impose a 65-day closure of The Well, located at 1101 Gloucester 
Street, subject to notice and provisions set forth by the City Commission; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
MEETING AJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 9:07 p.m. 
 
        /s/Cosby H. Johnson   
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
 
Attest: /s/ Devone J. Williams 
            Devone J. Williams 
            Assistant City Clerk 



















































 

  

2023 Annual Action Plan 
Community Development Block Grant Program 

City of Brunswick 
601 Gloucester Street, Brunswick, GA 
 



1 
 

Table of Contents 
AP-05 Execu�ve Summary – 24 CFR 91.200(c), 91.220(b) ........................................................................ 2 

PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies – 91.200(b) ...................................................................................... 3 

Ap-10 Consulta�on – 91.100, 91.200 (b), 91.215 (l) ................................................................................. 4 

AP-12 Par�cipa�on – 91.105, 91.200(c) .................................................................................................... 6 

Expected Resources ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

AP-15 Expected Resources – 91.220 (c), (1,2) ........................................................................................... 7 

Annual Goals and Objec�ves ........................................................................................................................ 0 

AP-20 Annual Goals and Objec�ves .......................................................................................................... 0 

Projects ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

AP-35 Projects – 91.220(d) ........................................................................................................................ 2 

AP-38 Project Summary ............................................................................................................................ 3 

AP-50 Geographic Distribu�on – 91.220 (f) ............................................................................................ 10 

Affordable Housing ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

AP-55 Affordable Housing – 91.220(g) .................................................................................................... 11 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) ........................................................................................................... 11 

AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Needs Ac�vi�es – 91.220(i) ............................................................ 12 

AP-75 Barriers to affordable housing – 91.220(j) .................................................................................... 14 

AP-85 Other Ac�ons – 91.220(k) ............................................................................................................. 15 

Program Specific Requirements .................................................................................................................. 17 

AP-90 Program Specific Requirements – 91.220(l)(1,2,4) ....................................................................... 17 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) Reference 24 CFR 91.220(l)(1) ................... 17 

Other CDBG Requirements ................................................................................................................. 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

AP-05 Execu�ve Summary – 24 CFR 91.200(c), 91.220(b) 
1. Introduc�on 

The Brunswick, GA 2023 Annual Plan is mandated by federal law and regula�ons promulgated by the 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the City to receive federal funding for 
affordable housing and community development ini�a�ves benefi�ng primarily low- and moderate-
income persons. 

The City of Brunswick an�cipates receiving the following grant amounts in fiscal year 2023: 

- Annual alloca�on (es�mated) CDBG: $412,914 
- Es�mated three-year period in the remainder of the Five-Year Consolidated Plan: $400,000 (this 

projected amount is expected to change based on federal alloca�ons made annually.) 

2. Summarize objec�ves and outcomes iden�fied in the Plan 

Housing needs among residents of Brunswick were determined by analyzing housing problems by 

income level, tenure, and households with special needs for the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan. Sources 
include the Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) dataset, which is based on the 2015-
2019 American Community Survey (ACS) Five-Year Es�mates. This source analyzes households with one 

or more housing problems (overcrowding, lacking adequate kitchen or plumbing facili�es), and 

households experiencing cost burden (paying more than 30% of household income for housing costs) 
and severe cost burden (paying more than 50% of household income for housing costs). 

The most significant housing issue iden�fied is cost burden. According to CHAS data, 1,090 renter 
households and 230 owner households in the City of Brunswick are cost burdened. 

In general, elderly family households have less difficulty in affording housing costs than other household 

types. Elderly non-family households have the greatest difficulty finding affordable housing. With regards 

to other housing problems, overcrowding is the second most common problem, but only among renters; 
no owners are overcrowded as reported in the data. 

To address the iden�fied needs, the City has established the following goals and outcomes to be 
achieved through the investment of its HUD resources during FY 2023: 

- Housing Rehabilita�on (including Accessibility Improvements) - $215,914 (11 housing units 
rehabilitated) 

- Improve Public Facili�es/Infrastructure - $22,000 (Perimeter security fencing and gate security 
around 30 homes and community center currently under construc�on) 

- Provide Public Services - $58,000 (6 non-profits) 
- Remove Slum & Blight - $70,000 (4 buildings demolished) 
- Planning and Administra�on of the CDBG Program – $47,000 

3. Evalua�on of past performance 

The summary of past performance reported below was taken from the City’s most recently completed 
Consolidated Annual Plan Evalua�on Report completed for the FY 2021 and submited to HUD. 



3 
 

- Rehabilita�on of 13 homes in 2021. In addi�on, funds were used by Rebuilding Together of 
Glynn County to install handicap ramps for 2 people with disabili�es. 

- Roof replacement on two buildings and the breezeway connec�ng the buildings (10,000 square 

feet) was completed within budget and dateline during FY’ 21. The old roof at the Roosevelt 
Harris, Jr. Senior Ci�zen Center was failing and causing interior damage to two buildings. 

- The City of Brunswick demolished six blighted proper�es in an effort to improve neighborhood 

condi�ons and prevent further deteriora�on in residen�al neighborhoods. 
- Three public service agencies in the City were funded to provide services to low- to moderate-

income persons and families. In addi�on, the CARES Act provided the City of Brunswick with 
addi�onal resources that were used to fund four agencies who provide services to persons 
impacted by COVID-19, including persons experiencing homelessness.  

- The final payment for the FY’19 Midtown Sidewalk Improvement Project was made in July 2021. 

Addi�onally, the City worked to distribute CDBG-CV funds (funds provided through the CARES Act to 
address the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic) to various agencies throughout the City that serve the most 
vulnerable. 

4. Summary of Ci�zen Par�cipa�on Process and Consulta�on Process 

Several housing, social service agencies, and other organiza�ons serving the City of Brunswick were 

consulted during the development of the 2023 Annual Ac�on Plan. The City held a public needs hearing 
on February 15, 2023, and a second public hearing on April 5, 2023. The City consulted with various 
agencies including affordable housing providers, neighborhood organiza�ons and City Departments. 

5. Summary of public comments 

6. Summary of comments or views not accepted and the reasons for not accep�ng them 

All comments were accepted. 

7. Summary 

The 2023 Annual Ac�on Plan has been developed with community input and reflects the needs of the 

City. It is consistent with the priority needs and goals outlined in the 2020-2024 Five-Year Consolidated 
Plan. 

PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies – 91.200(b) 
1. Agency/En�ty responsible for preparing/administering the Consolidated Plan 

Describe the agency/entity responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan and those responsible for 
administration of each grant program and funding source. 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 
CDBG Administrator Brunswick Department of Neighborhood 

and Community Services 
   

Table 1 – Responsible Agencies 

Narrative (optional) 



4 
 

The lead agency for the Consolidated Plan is the City of Brunswick Department of Neighborhood and 

Community Services which administers the CDBG program and Georgia’s SHP Housing program. Several 
City departments are ac�ve stakeholders in community development projects and improvements, 

including Engineering and Inspec�ons and Code Enforcement. 

Consolidated Plan Public Contact Information 

David Bravo 
Department of Neighborhood and Community Services 
City of Brunswick 
601 Gloucester Street 
Brunswick, Georgia 31520 
Ph: 912-267-5530 
Fax: 912-267-5549 
dbravo@cityo�runswick.ga.gov 

Ap-10 Consulta�on – 91.100, 91.200 (b), 91.215 (l) 
1. Introduc�on 

The City developed an outreach effort to maximize input from a large cross-sec�on of stakeholders. This 

outreach effort included public mee�ngs, stakeholder mee�ngs and published mee�ng no�ces carried 

out for the annual CDBG alloca�on. 

Several housing, social services agencies, and other organiza�ons serving the City of Brunswick were 

consulted during the development of this 2023 Annual Plan. The City held a public needs hearing on 
February 15, 2023 and will hold another public mee�ng while the Annual Plan is on display. The City 

consulted with various agencies including affordable housing providers, neighborhood organiza�ons, 

homeless and social service providers, economic development organiza�ons and City departments. 

Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination between public and 
assisted housing providers and private and governmental health, mental health, and service agencies 
(91.215(l)) 

The City encourages a high level of public communica�on and agency consulta�on in an effort to 

demonstrate its commitment to iden�fying priority needs and engaging the par�cipa�on of ci�zens, 

public agencies, and non-profit organiza�ons in a posi�ve and collabora�ve manner. A list of 
stakeholders and affordable housing providers was developed and included public agencies and non-
profit organiza�ons whose missions included the provision of affordable housing and human services to 

low-and-moderate-income households and persons. These stakeholders were provided a ques�onnaire 

to generate input on the needs of the community for the purpose of informing and developing the 2023 
Annual Plan. A list of stakeholders and par�cipa�ng agencies is included in the table below. The following 
is a summary of comments received during the 2023 outreach process: 

Greatest Needs in the Community: 

- Jobs do not match the cost of living for both homeowners and renters. 
- Lack of safe and decent affordable housing. 

mailto:dbravo@cityofbrunswick.ga.gov


5 
 

- Lack of public transporta�on which providers a barrier to accessing jobs and limits housing 

op�ons, especially for those without their own forms of transporta�on. 
- Not enough housing choices in the current housing market for Housing Choice Voucher holders. 

Other Iden�fied Needs in the Community: 

- Public Housing is having issues ge�ng qualified people to apply for maintenance posi�ons to 

improve the housing units. 
- Contractors are having difficul�es finding workers and are therefore less willing to commit to 

jobs. 
- The cost of items needed to upkeep and improve public housing units, such as appliances, have 

been in short demand. Local stores are no longer carrying item in stock. 

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of homeless persons 
(particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families with children, veterans, and 
unaccompanied youth) and persons at risk of homelessness. 

The City of Brunswick staff ac�vely par�cipate in the Point in Time Count by assis�ng homelessness 

providers in surveying persons experiencing homelessness. The City of Brunswick has also allocated 
$5,000 of CDBG funding for FY23 to Safe Harbor Children’s Center, Inc. whose primary cons�tuents are 

minors and unaccompanied youth.  

Describe consultation with the Continuum of Care that serves the jurisdiction’s area in determining how 
to allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards for and evaluate outcomes for projects and 
activities assisted by ESG funds, and develop funding, policies and procedures for the operation and 
administration of HMIS 

Stakeholders working with those experiencing homelessness provided input during stakeholder 
interviews and in the project selec�on process. The City of Brunswick does not receive ESG funds. 

2. Describe Agencies, groups, organiza�ons and others who par�cipated in the process and 

describe the jurisdic�ons consulta�on with housing, social service agencies and other en��es. 

1 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Brunswick Housing Authority 
 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Type Services – Affordable Housing 
 What sec�on of the Plan was addressed by Consulta�on? Affordable Housing 

Non-Homeless Special Needs 
 Briefly describe how the Agency/Group/Organiza�on was 

consulted. What are the an�cipated outcomes of the 
consulta�on or areas for improved coordina�on? 

The agency completed a 
ques�onnaire for the City to 
iden�fy needs. 

2 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Safe Harbor 
 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Type Services – Youth 

Services - Homeless 
 What sec�on of the Plan was addressed by Consulta�on? Homeless Needs - Chronically 

homeless 
Homeless Needs – Homeless 
Foster Kids 
Homelessness Needs – 
Unaccompanied 



6 
 

youth 
Homelessness Strategy 

 Briefly describe how the Agency/Group/Organiza�on was 
consulted. What are the an�cipated outcomes of the 
consulta�on or areas for improved coordina�on? 

The agency completed a 
ques�onnaire for the City to 
iden�fy needs. 

 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Saved By Grace 
 Agency/Group/Organiza�on Type Services – Homeless 
 What sec�on of the Plan was addressed by Consulta�on? Homeless Needs - Chronically 

homeless 
Homelessness Strategy 

 Briefly describe how the Agency/Group/Organiza�on was 
consulted. What are the an�cipated outcomes of the 
consulta�on or areas for improved coordina�on? 

The agency completed a 
ques�onnaire for the City to 
iden�fy needs. 

Table 2 – Agencies, groups, organiza�ons who par�cipated 

Identify any Agency Types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting 

There were no groups or agency types purposely not consulted. 

Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan 

Name of Plan Lead Organiza�on How do the goals of your Strategic Plan 
overlap with the goals of each plan? 

Con�nuum of Care Safe Harbor Children’s Center, 
Inc. 

The goals are aligned, though the City 
does not receive ESG funding. 

2020-2024 Consolidated 
Plan 

City of Brunswick The goals are aligned. 

Table 3 – Other local/regional/federal planning efforts 

Narrative (optional) 

 

AP-12 Par�cipa�on – 91.105, 91.200(c) 
1. Summary of ci�zen par�cipa�on process/Efforts made to broaden ci�zen par�cipa�on 

Summarize citizen participation process and how it impacted goal-setting 

 

Citizen Participation Outreach 

Sort 
Order 

Mode of 
Outreach 

Target of 
Outreach 

Summary of 
response/ 
atendance 

Summary of 
comments 
received 

Summary of 
comments 
not accepted 
and reasons 

URL (if 
applicable) 

1 Newspaper 
Ad 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

N/A N/A N/A  

2 Stakeholder 
Outreach 

Stakeholder 
agencies 

    



7 
 

3 Public 
Hearing 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

    

4 Public Display 
of Dra� 
Document 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

    

5 Newspaper 
Ad 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

    

6 Public 
Hearing 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

    

Table 4 – Ci�zen Par�cipa�on Outreach 

Expected Resources 
AP-15 Expected Resources – 91.220 (c), (1,2) 
Introduction 

Anticipated Resources 

Progra
m 

Sourc
e of 
Funds 

Uses of 
Funds 

Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 
Amount 
Available 
Remaind
er of 
ConPlan 
$ 

Narra�ve 
Descrip�o
n 

Annual 
Alloca�o
n: $ 

Progra
m 
Income
: $ 

Prior 
Year 
Resource
s: $ 

Total: S 

CDBG Public 
– 
feder
al 

Acquisi�on 
Admin and 
Planning 
Economic 
Developmen
t 
Housing 
Public 
Improvemen
ts 
Public 
Services 
 

$412,914 $0 $0 $412,91
4 

$354,026 The 
expected 
amount 
remaining is 
approximate
ly one time 
the 2023 
allocation. 

Table 5 – Expected Resources – Priority Table 

Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local funds), 
including a description of how matching requirements will be satisfied. 

The non-profit organiza�ons funded as sub-recipients have addi�onal financial capacity through 

founda�ons and fundraising campaigns. Federal funds provide these organiza�ons with the opportunity 

to expand their services to benefit more low- and moderate-income persons. 



8 
 

If appropriate, describe publicly owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that may be used 
to address the needs identified in the plan 

The Land Bank currently does not have any vacant parcels in its possession. However, when there are 

parcels available to the Land bank, there is poten�al to build single family units on these lots. 



Annual Goals and Objec�ves 
AP-20 Annual Goals and Objec�ves 
Goals Summary Information 

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs Addressed Funding Goal Outcome 
Indicator 

1 Housing rehabilita�on 
incl. accessibility 
improv 

2020 2024 Affordable Housing Citywide Preserve Exis�ng 
Affordable Units 

CDBG: 
$215,914 

Homeowner 
Housing 
Rehabilitated: 
11 Household 
Housing Unit 

2 Improve public 
facili�es/infrastructure 

2020 2024 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

CDBG 
Eligible 
Areas 

Improve Public Facili�es 
and Infrastructure 
 

CDBG: 
$22,000 

Public Facility 
or 
Infrastructure 
Ac�vi�es 
other than 
Low/Moderate 
Income 
Housing 
Benefit: 30 
Persons 
Assisted 

3 Provide public services 2020 2024 Homeless 
Non-Homeless 
Special Needs 
Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide Provide Public Services CDBG: 
$58,000 

Public service 
ac�vi�es other 
than 
Low/Moderate 
Income 
Housing 
Benefit:386 
Persons 
Assisted 



1 
 

4 Remove slum and 
blight 

2020 2024 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide Remove and Prevent 
Spread of Bligh�ng 
Factors 

CDBG: 
$70,000 

Buildings 
Demolished: 4 
Buildings 

5 Planning and 
administra�on of the 
CDBG program 

2020 2024 Affordable Housing 
Homeless 
Non-Homeless 
Special Needs 
Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide Planning/Administra�on 
& Furthering Fair 
Housing 

CDBG: 
$47,000 

Other: 1 Other 

Table 6 – Goals Summary 

Goal Descriptions 

1 Goal Name Housing rehabilita�on incl. accessibility improve 
 Goal Descrip�on Ac�vi�es related to the preserva�on and rehabilita�on of renter 

and owner-occupied affordable housing (single and mul�-family). 
This includes making emergency repairs to housing and 
minor/moderate/major rehabilita�on including accessibility 
improvements. 

2 Goal Name Improve public facili�es/infrastructure 
 Goal Descrip�on Infrastructure improvements such as water and sewer lines, 

streets, and sidewalks; public facility improvements related to 
senior centers, libraries, parks, playgrounds and trails and other 
public community assets; facili�es for formerly sex trafficked 
persons; architectural barrier removal. 

3 Goal Name Provide public services 
 Goal Descrip�on Support for public services in a variety of areas including: 

transporta�on; mental health and substance abuse; childcare and 
youth services; a�er-school programs; elderly services; 
wraparound services for the homeless/at risk popula�ons; legal 
services; vic�ms of domes�c violence and/or child abuse; food 
security; access to broadband for low- and moderate-income 
persons; job training services; services for formerly incarcerated 



2 
 

persons; services for veterans and services for formerly sex-
trafficked persons. 

4 Goal Name Remove slum and blight 
 Goal Descrip�on Spot demoli�on of blighted proper�es 
5 Goal Name Planning and administra�on of the CDBG program 
 Goal Descrip�on Administra�ve and planning costs to operate the CDBG program 

successfully and provide outreach and educa�on of fair housing 
laws. 

 

Projects 
AP-35 Projects – 91.220(d) 
Introduction 

The City proposes the following ac�vi�es for 2023 funding. 

Projects 

# Project Name 
1 Administra�on 
2 Coastal Outreach Academies 
3 Saved By Grace 
4 Roosevelt Lawrence Community Center 
5 Rebuilding Together of Glynn County 
6 Foster Love Ministries 
7 Safe Harbor Children’s Center 
8 Youth Enrichment Learning Center 
9 Golden Isles Veterans’ Village 
10 Spot Demoli�on 
11 Minor/Major Home Repair Program 

Table 7 – Project Informa�on 

Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing underserved needs 



3 
 

One overarching goal is to make las�ng impact in the community; projects were selected that would benefit the City of Brunswick for many years 

to come. While housing rehabilita�on and construc�on of new affordable housing is a significant need in the City, limited resources prevent the 
City from building new affordable housing developments; the City of Brunswick will focus efforts on housing rehabilita�on in the form of the 

emergency repairs and rehabilita�on program. 

Investments in public facili�es and infrastructure in low- and moderate-income areas will make las�ng impact on the quality of life in those 

communi�es. There is a need for sidewalks throughout the City as there is no public transit system and residents without access to private 
vehicles frequently walk to their des�na�on; sidewalks, street ligh�ng and curb ramps make it safer for all persons who rely on walking. 

Public services for children and youth are needed. Workforce development and providing opportuni�es to reduce poverty are a priority. Youth 
workforce development is a cri�cal need as well as a�er school programs. 

The primary obstacle to addressing underserved needs con�nues to be lack of resources to fully rehabilitate and revitalize the housing stock. 

Addi�onally, public transit remains a significant barrier for residents, par�cularly low- and moderate-income households without access to a 
private vehicle. The solu�on to a public transit system requires countywide support and while the City can con�nue to advocate for a solu�on it is 

beyond the jurisdic�on of the City alone. 

AP-38 Project Summary 
Project Summary Information 

1 Project Name Administra�on 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Planning and administra�on of the CDBG program 
Needs Addressed Planning/Administra�on & Furthering Fair Housing 
Funding CDBG: $47,000 
Descrip�on General administra�on, staffing and equipment; and develop, 

administer, revise, implement and evaluate the day-to-day opera�on of 
en�tlement programs. Ac�vi�es include program design; develop 
Annual Plans and grant administra�on; Sub recipient compliance 
monitoring, program outreach, public rela�ons and training; 
environmental review and labor standards. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 

Other 1 



4 
 

the proposed 
ac�vi�es 
Loca�on Descrip�on Citywide 
Planned Ac�vi�es General administra�on, staffing and equipment; and develop, 

administer, revise, implement and evaluate the day-to-day opera�on of 
en�tlement programs. Ac�vi�es include program design; develop 
Annual Plans and grant administra�on, Sub recipient compliance 
monitoring, program outreach, public rela�ons and training; 
environmental review and labor standards. Matrix Code 21A 

2 Project Name Coastal Outreach Academies 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $15,000 
Descrip�on Coastal Outreach Academies programs serve 160 students from low 

income areas in Brunswick.  Their programs provide a fun way to 
engage the students, provide an exercise outlet in a safe environment, 
provide posi�ve reinforcement from mentors and improve school 
atendance and performance.  The programs serve children ages four 
to eleven. The goal is to keep pre-teen and teen girls involved in 
physical fitness, cultural enrichment and empowerment ac�vi�es. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

 178 students 

Loca�on Descrip�on Altama Elementary School, Arco Community at Paulk Field and Howard 
Coffin Park 

Planned Ac�vi�es The amount requested will help pay for salaries of a Director, P/T 
Trainers (4), Summer PT Trainers (3), referees, and a bus driver. Public 
Services Matrix Code 05D 

 
3 

Project Name Saved By Grace 
Target Area Citywide 



5 
 

Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $15,000 
Descrip�on Saved By Grace provides referrals to outside agencies for healthcare, 

mental health needs, weekly recovery mee�ngs, educa�onal training 
of financial responsibility, �me management and managing a healthy 
household for men transi�oning out of homelessness. Their programs 
called "I Have a Name" offers men, 21 and older access to daily 
showers, minor laundry services, transporta�on to DMV and/or health 
department to obtain license, ID or Birth Cer�ficate, assistance in 
applying for Food Stamps and/ or employment. It also provides a 
housing assessment to determine the most suitable and qualifying 
housing program placement a�er transi�on. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

14 homeless men  

Loca�on Descrip�on Citywide 
Planned Ac�vi�es Funding will be used for food, transporta�on to and from 

appointments and job interviews, clothing for job interviews, 
background checks, rental applica�on fees, and deposits for move-in 
for a rental home. Matrix Code 05Z 

 
4 

Project Name Roosevelt Lawrence Community Center 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $15,000 
Descrip�on The A�er-School Program provides a place where children can do their 

homework, be part of recrea�onal ac�vi�es and use the computer lab, 
while their parents or caregivers are at work. Most of the children are 
from low- to moderate-income families and most come from the 
Brunswick Housing Authority complexes in the City. The Summer Camp 



6 
 

Program’s primary goal is for academic success. All the children 
enrolled in the program atend field trips and receive swimming 
lessons. They also have recrea�onal ac�vi�es. The children are 
provided with a breakfast, lunch, and snack. Recently, the Center 
added another program called “Read Together 20 Minutes Every Day”. 
This program will promote reading tools, such as early literacy, math, 
and social-emo�onal skills. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

130-140 Youth per year 

Loca�on Descrip�on Roosevelt Lawrence Community Youth Center 
Planned Ac�vi�es The funding will pay for the staff salaries and benefits. Matrix Code: 

05D 
 
5 

Project Name Rebuilding Together of Glynn County 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Housing rehabilita�on including accessibility improvements 
Needs Addressed Preserve Exis�ng Affordable Units 
Funding CDBG: $6,000 
Descrip�on Funds will be used for the construc�on of three wheelchair ramps, and 

the salaries of a director, coordinator, construc�on manager, and 
contract services which includes labor and supplies. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

3 households needing accessibility modifica�ons will benefit 

Loca�on Descrip�on Scatered Sites. 
Planned Ac�vi�es Funds will be used to pay salaries of those providing assistance 

installing ramps in the homes of elderly and/or disabled persons. 
Matrix Code: 14A 



7 
 

 
6 

Project Name Foster Love Ministries 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $5,000 
Descrip�on Funds will be used to provide salaries of staff to provide training for 

foster parents 
Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

100 foster children per year 

Loca�on Descrip�on Foster Love Ministries, Inc. 
Planned Ac�vi�es Funds will be used to provide salaries of their director, family advocate, 

and office manager. Matrix Code: 05D 
 
7 

Project Name Safe Harbor Children’s Center, Inc. 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $5,000 
Descrip�on Since 1991, Safe Harbor Children’s Center has provided the children of 

Golden Isles and from across Georgia with a safe haven from abuse 
and neglect. They provide services that promote security and stability 
for at risk families, children and individuals. They offer the 
community's children a safe and suppor�ve emergency shelter, where 
they can heal from trauma and transi�on towards lives as regular kids. 
The center provides seven important services that includes: emergency 
shelter, residen�al facili�es, drop-in centers, outreach programs, 
advocacy for children, family preserva�on services and sexual assault 
counseling services. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 

100 youth 



8 
 

that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 
Loca�on Descrip�on Safe Harbor Children’s Center, Inc. 
Planned Ac�vi�es Funding will help pay for the salaries of an Outreach Program Director 

and three staff members. Matric Code: 03T 
 
8 

Project Name Youth Enrichment Learning Center 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide public services 
Needs Addressed Provide Public Services 
Funding CDBG: $3,000 
Descrip�on Funds will be used to implement a STEM program �tled "Bank Their 

Bucks" which will enhance financial literacy, math, reading and use of 
technology for youth through an innova�ve kinesthe�c learning 
approach. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

32 students from low-income areas in Brunswick 

Loca�on Descrip�on Citywide 
Planned Ac�vi�es Their grant request is for implemen�ng a STEM program �tled "Bank 

Their Bucks" which will enhance financial literacy, math reading and 
use of technology through an innova�ve kinesthe�c learning approach. 
Matrix Code 05D 

 
9 

Project Name Golden Isles Veterans’ Village 
Target Area CDBG Eligible Areas 
Goals Supported Improve public facili�es/infrastructure 
Needs Addressed Improve Public Facili�es and Infrastructure 
Funding CDBG: $22,000 
Descrip�on Project will provide perimeter security fencing and gate security 

around the 30 homes and community center currently under 
construc�on at the Golden Isle Veterans Village 



9 
 

Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

30 homeless veterans per year 

Loca�on Descrip�on Scatered Sites 
Planned Ac�vi�es Project will provide perimeter security fencing and gate security 

around the 30 homes and community center currently under 
construc�on at the Golden Isle Veterans Village 

 
10 

Project Name Spot Demoli�on 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Remove slum and blight 
Needs Addressed Remove and Prevent the Spread of Bligh�ng Factors 
Funding CDBG: $70,000 
Descrip�on Spot demoli�on of blighted structures 
Target Date 6/30/2024 
Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

7 buildings demolished 

Loca�on Descrip�on Scatered Sites 
Planned Ac�vi�es Spot demoli�on of blighted structures. Matrix Code: 04 

11 Project Name Minor/Major Home Repair Program 
Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Housing rehabilita�on including accessibility improvements 
Needs Addressed Preserve Exis�ng Affordable Units 
Funding CDBG: $209,914 
Descrip�on Provide Emergency Housing Repairs and Moderate-Minor to Major 

Rehabilita�on, to improve the habitability of owner-occupied housing 
and Programs Delivery Support. Eligible applicants are low- and 
moderate-income at 80% or below the median income citywide. 

Target Date 6/30/2024 



10 
 

Es�mate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed 
ac�vi�es 

8 households 

Loca�on Descrip�on Scatered Sites 
Planned Ac�vi�es Provide Emergency Housing Repairs and Moderate-Minor and Major 

Rehabilita�on, to improve the habitability of owner-occupied housing 
and Program Delivery Support. Matrix Code: 14A 

 

AP-50 Geographic Distribu�on – 91.220 (f) 
Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income and minority concentration) where assistance will be 
directed 

Priority CDBG funding areas in Brunswick include areas where the percentage of low- to moderate-income persons is 51% or higher. 

Geographic Distribu�on 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 
Citywide 100% 
CDBG Eligible Areas 0% 

Table 8 – Geographic Distribu�on 

Ra�onale for the priori�es for alloca�ng investments geographically 

The City will use CDBG funds throughout the jurisdic�on to serve low- and moderate-income persons and households. A por�on of funds will be 

used for the rehabilita�on and renova�on of single-family homes of low- and moderate-income households to improve housing condi�ons. This 

is classified as Citywide because low- and moderate-income households live throughout the City. 

Public services in the form of youth programming are available to all low- and moderate-income youth, independent of which neighborhood in 
which they reside. Homeless services are for homeless and unaccompanied youth who live throughout the City but for whom there is a 
presumed benefit. 

This method of alloca�on will enable the City to serve the most disadvantaged residents given the limited funding available. 



11 
 

Discussion 

 

Affordable Housing 
AP-55 Affordable Housing – 91.220(g) 
Introduction 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households to be Supported 
Homeless 0 
Non-Homeless 11 
Special-Needs 0 
Total 11 

Table 9 – One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Requirement 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households Supported Through 
Rental Assistance 0 
The Produc�on of New Units 0 
Rehab of Exis�ng Units 11 
Acquisi�on of Exis�ng Units 0 
Total 11 

Table 10 – One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Type 

Discussion 

 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) 
Introduction 

The following is related to public housing in the City of Brunswick. All public housing is operated by the Brunswick Housing Authority. 

Actions planned during the next year to address the needs to public housing 



12 
 

While the City is currently not planning on alloca�ng CDBG funds to the Brunswick Housing Authority, the City con�nues to encourage Brunswick 
Housing Authority to make capital improvements and con�nue with programs to increase the quality of life of Public Housing tenants.  

The Public Housing Authority has started receiving model units and are in the process of ge�ng contracts in place to assist in ge�ng these ready 

to rent. The Public Housing Authority is currently managing 634 public housing units—28 of which are available for persons with mobility 
disabili�es (ADA) and 29 for elderly persons.  

Actions to encourage public housing residents to become more involved in management and participate in homeownership 

Residents are involved with management and opera�ons of public housing developments through par�cipa�on on resident councils. Brunswick 
Housing Authority looks for opportuni�es to hire residents for contract work through its Sec�on 3 obliga�ons. The Public Housing Authority will 

be con�nuing the FSS Program which currently has 15 par�cipants. The Brunswick Housing Authority currently administers a homeownership 
program with 88 households signed up for NACA. 

If the PHA is designated as troubled, describe the manner in which financial assistance will be provided or other assistance 

Brunswick Housing Authority is not designated as a troubled agency. 

Discussion 

AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Needs Ac�vi�es – 91.220(i) 
Introduction 

This sec�on was developed a�er consul�ng with service providers during the outreach process. 

Describe the jurisdiction’s one-year goals and actions for reducing and ending homelessness including: 

Reaching out to homeless persons (especially unsheltered persons) and assessing their individual needs 

In addi�on to conduc�ng street outreach ac�vi�es to iden�fy unsheltered individuals, Saved By Grace provides walk-in services for unsheltered 
homeless men and women in the area. Services include, but are not limited to, showers, laundry, food, social services, help finding a job, etc. In 
addi�on, Saved By Grace has an on-site men’s transi�onal work program, which can occupy 14 men. In this program, the men are required to 

work, atend recovery mee�ngs, maintain curfew and four addi�onal pages of rules. 

Saved By Grace partners with Safe Harbor, Coastal Community Ac�on, Gateway and private landlords to help provide housing for men in their 
program and those that walk-in for services. Saved By Grace partners with re-entry programs like Gateway Crisis Center and other similar 
organiza�ons to help those that are coming out of ins�tu�ons, crisis centers, etc. 



13 
 

Saved By Grace currently refers all homeless families to Safe Harbor, but intends to provide family units in the future. 

Safe Harbor Children’s Center’s Street Outreach Program provides homeless individuals with the emergency services and referrals they need to 
find safe housing solu�ons. The Street Outreach program will serve 210 homeless individuals per year in Glynn County, Georgia, and surrounding 
areas. The Street Outreach Program ac�vi�es include: finding, tracking, communica�ng with, and building trus�ng rela�onships with homeless 

individuals; addressing the immediate needs of homeless with food, clothing, emergency shelter, and hygiene; providing crisis interven�on needs 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week; encouraging par�cipants to improve their behavioral and physical health; and providing case management 
services to address health care needs and individual housing plans. 

Safe Harbor has an MOU with the Glynn County Homeless Coali�on to provide services for individuals and families. Street Outreach workers 
complete the VI-SPDAT assessment. If the assessment tool indicates a high priority for housing, staff makes the appropriate referral to a service 

provider or housing provider in the community.  

Addressing the emergency shelter and transitional housing needs of homeless persons 

Safe Harbor’s admission policies ensure low-barrier shelter for individuals in the City. Adult housing providers are the Glynn Community Crisis for 
domes�c violence, Gateway Community Service Board for mental health, hotel/motel vouchers, suppor�ve housing, Salva�on Army, Grace 

House, Heather House, and the Brunswick Housing Authority. Youth emergency housing and Transi�onal Housing for girls ages 16 to 22 are 
provided by Safe Harbor Children’s Center. Adult Day services, financial assistance and food bank services are provided by FaithWorks. 

Safe Harbor Children’s Center provides seven important services that includes: emergency shelter, residen�al facili�es, drop-in centers, outreach 
programs, advocacy for children, family preserva�on services and sexual assault counseling services. Saved by Grace offers transi�onal housing 

for men, which includes a work program and requires recovery services. 

Helping homeless persons (especially chronically homeless individuals and families, families with children, veterans and their families, and 
unaccompanied youth) make the transition to permanent housing and independent living, including shortening the period of time that 
individuals and families experience homelessness, facilitating access for homeless individuals and families to affordable housing units, and 
preventing individuals and families who were recently homeless from becoming homeless again 

The following is a list of ac�ons being taken and comments received during the outreach process to:  

Shorten the �me that persons experience homelessness 

- Adult housing providers are the Glynn Community Crisis for domes�c violence, Gateway Community Service Board for mental health, 
hotel/motel vouchers, suppor�ve housing, Salva�on Army, Grace House, Heather House, and the Brunswick Housing Authority 



14 
 

Facilita�ng access to affordable housing 

- Safe Harbor Children’s Center’s Street Outreach Program provides homeless individuals with the emergency services and referrals they 
need to find safe housing solu�ons. The Street Outreach program will serve 210 homeless individuals per year in Glynn County, Georgia, 
and surrounding areas 

- Local public housing and other low-income housing op�ons are discussed with clients, however, there is not enough affordable housing 

in the community. 

Preven�ng a return to homelessness 

- Safe Harbor Children’s Center provides seven important services that includes: emergency shelter, residen�al facili�es, drop-in centers, 
outreach programs, advocacy for children, family preserva�on services and sexual assault counseling services. 

Helping low-income individuals and families avoid becoming homeless, especially extremely low-income individuals and families and those 
who are: being discharged from publicly funded institutions and systems of care (such as health care facilities, mental health facilities, foster 
care and other youth facilities, and corrections programs and institutions); or receiving assistance from public or private agencies that 
address housing, health, social services, employment, education, or youth needs. 

The following are some things being done to help low-income individuals and families from becoming homeless: 

- The hospital and FaithWorks have a working rela�onship and occasionally meet to discuss issues. 
- A case manager priori�zes helping guests get a birth cer�ficate and an ID to access Salva�on Army, Saved by Grace, and local health care 

and housing providers. 
- Saved By Grace has an on-site men’s transi�onal work program, which can occupy 14 men. In this program, the men are required to 

work, atend recovery mee�ngs, and maintain curfew. 

 

AP-75 Barriers to affordable housing – 91.220(j) 
Introduction 

Actions it planned to remove or ameliorate the negative effects of public policies that serve as barriers to affordable housing such as land use 
controls, tax policies affecting land, zoning ordinances, building codes, fees and charges, growth limitations, and policies affecting the return on 
residential investment 



15 
 

In the fourth year of the Consolidated Plan, the City of Brunswick will con�nue to focus on educa�on and outreach to the public, real estate 
professionals, property managers, landlords, lenders and elected officials regarding fair housing laws as the landscape remains changed since 
COVID-19. The City con�nues to review zoning ordinances, as prescribed in the AI as part of the Fair Housing Ac�on Plan.  

Discussion 

Barriers to affordable housing iden�fied by stakeholders include lack of affordable inventory, increasing rents that are not commensurate with 
increases in income. In addi�on, transporta�on is a barrier to employment opportuni�es for individuals needing affordable housing. The City will 
u�lize CDBG for home repair programs that preserve exis�ng housing stock and will support infrastructure investments to create new affordable 

housing for Veterans. 

AP-85 Other Ac�ons – 91.220(k) 
Introduction 

 

Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs 

The primary obstacle to mee�ng underserved needs con�nues to be a lack of resources. The City of Brunswick will con�nue to look for new 
funding sources to address underserved needs of the City’s most vulnerable popula�ons. Addi�onally, public transporta�on has been cited as a 
need and barrier for residents in accessing job centers and managing daily ac�vi�es. While a public transit solu�on will need to involve Glynn 
County, the City of Brunswick will con�nue to engage in conversa�ons to make progress towards this goal. 

Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing  

The City will foster affordable housing through the housing rehabilita�on program as well as infrastructure investments for affordable housing for 
Veterans. 

Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards 

The City’s goal is to increase the inventory of housing units that are lead safe. The City is commited to taking the following ac�ons: 

- Con�nue to meet HUD lead-based paint standards in housing rehabilita�on programs. 
- Expand the stock of lead safe housing though housing ini�a�ves. 
- Obtain training for program staff on lead hazard evalua�on and reduc�on. 
- Establish rela�onships with lead professionals and key partners such as risk assessors and clearance technicians, public health 

professionals and HUD lead grantees. 



16 
 

- Create procedures for determining when it is more cost effec�ve to presume that a lead hazard is present and when it makes more sense 
to evaluate a property. 

While the Health Department will con�nue to screen at-risk children for lead the City will con�nue its exis�ng lead-based paint hazard educa�on 

and tes�ng elements of the homeowner rehabilita�on program. 

Brunswick does lead-based paint hazard screening on all housing projects funded by the City using CDBG funds. Where defec�ve paint is 

observed, surfaces are prepared and repainted following abatement guidelines provided by HUD. 

Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families 

The City will con�nue to encourage business growth and the availability of workforce training and educa�onal opportuni�es in the community. It 
will also con�nue to fund or offer leters of support for agencies that provide services to low- and moderate-income persons to reduce the 
underlying causes of poverty. Programs such as the housing rehabilita�on program allow homeowners to build and maintain equity in their 
homes. Addi�onally, the City will remain engaged in a public transit solu�on to allow residents to access higher paying jobs located in Glynn 
County. 

The Brunswick Housing Authority will con�nue to implement the Family Self Sufficiency Program to encourage and support growth in earned 
income and self-sufficiency. 

Actions planned to develop institutional structure 

Given the limited resources available to meet the needs of the community’s most vulnerable popula�ons, a mature ins�tu�onal structure is 
needed to deliver services and leverage funds efficiently and effec�vely. The City plans to improve coordina�on among its partner agencies to 

promote a broadly shared understanding of community needs, collabora�ve and complementary approaches to addressing needs, and 
responsiveness to changes in condi�ons. 

Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and social service agencies 

The City will con�nue to coordinate planning ac�vi�es with private housing and social service agencies, including par�cipa�on in the Georgia 

Balance of State Con�nuum of Care mee�ngs, development of the Con�nuum of Care, par�cipa�on in the Point in Time count and homeless 

surveys. The City will also maintain close contact with sub-recipients of CDBG funds to further enhance coordina�on between the City and other 

organiza�ons. 

Discussion 

 



17 
 

Program Specific Requirements 
AP-90 Program Specific Requirements – 91.220(l)(1,2,4) 
Introduction 

This sec�on describes program specific requirements for CDBG funds 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) Reference 24 CFR 91.220(l)(1) 
Projects planned with all CDBG funds expected to be available during the year are identified in the Projects Table. The following identifies program 
income that is available for us that is included in projects to be carried out. 

1. The total amount of program income that will have 
been received before the start of the next program 
year and that has not yet been reprogrammed 

0 

2. The amount of proceeds from sec�on 108 loan 
guarantees that will be used during the year to 
address the priority needs and specific objec�ves 
iden�fied in the grantee’s strategic plan.  

0 

3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal 
setlements 

0 

4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line 
of credit for which the planned use has not been 
included in a prior statement or plan 

0 

5. The amount of income from float-funded ac�vi�es 0 
Total Program Income:  0 

 

Other CDBG Requirements 
1. The amount of urgent need ac�vi�es 0 
2. The es�mated percentage of CDBG funds that will 
be used for ac�vi�es that benefit persons of low and 
moderate income. Overall Benefit – A consecu�ve 
period of one, two, or three years may be used to 
determine that a minimum overall benefit of 70% of 
CDBG funds is used to benefit persons of low and 

71.6% 



18 
 

moderate income. Specify the years covered that 
include this Annual Ac�on Plan 

 


	Agenda
	Encl. 1 - Alcohol License
	Encl. 2 - DDA Update
	Encl. 3 - Budget Preview
	Encl. 4 - Minutes
	Encl. 5 - Financial Report
	Encl. 6 - GMA LEASE APPROVAL ALTEC BUCKET TRUCK
	Encl. 7 - RENEWAL OF GENERAL LIABILITY AND PROPERTY INSURANCE
	Encl. 8 - Annual Action Plan



